FORESTRY AND NATURAL SCIENCES

B.J.H.M. Possen

Searching for traits behind growth and biomass:

A case study with silver birch

Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences No 139



B.J.H.M. POSSEN

Searching for traits behind growth and biomass:

A case study with silver birch



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences 139

Academic Dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry for public examination in the Auditorium of the Finnish Forest Museum - Lusto, Punkaharju on June 11, 2014, at 12 o'clock noon.

Department of Biology

Kopijyvä Oy Joensuu, 22 May 2014 Editors: Prof. Pertti Pasanen, Prof. Pekka Kilpeläinen, Prof. Kai Peiponen, Prof. Matti Vornanen Distribution: Eastern Finland University Library / Sales of publications P.O. Box 107, FI-80101 Joensuu, Finland tel. +358-50-3058396 http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto

> ISBN: 978-952-61-1477-4 (nid.) ISBN: 978-952-61-1478-1 (PDF) ISSNL: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5676 (PDF)

Author's address:	The Finnish Forest Research Institute Suonenjoki Research Unit
	Juntintie 154
	77600 SUONENJOKI
	FINLAND
	email: boy.possen@metla.fi
Supervisors:	Dr. Elina Vapaavuori Tha Finnish Forget Research Institute
	file Fililish Forest Research Institute
	Suonenjoki Research Unit
	77600 SUONENIOKI
	FINI AND
	email: elina vanaavuori@metla fi
	entail, entaivaptaivaorientetain
	Professor Dr. Elina Oksanen
	University of Eastern Finland
	Department of Biology
	P.O. Box III
	FINLAND
	email: enna.oksanen@uel.ii
	Dr. Matti Rousi
	The Finnish Forest Research Institute
	Vantaa Research Unit
	P.O. Box 18
	01301 VANTAA
	FINLAND
	email: matti.rousi@metla.fi
Reviewers:	Professor Dr. Takayoshi Koike
	Hokkaido University
	Department of Forest Science
	5 Chome Kita 8 Jonishi, Kita Ward,
	060-8589 SAPPORO
	JAPAN
	email: tkoike@for.agr.hokudai.ac.jp
	Dr. Juha Mikola
	University of Helsinki
	Department of Environmental Sciences
	Niemenkatu 73
	15140 LAHTI
	FINLAND
	email: juha.mikola@helsinki.fi
Opponent:	Dr. Hendrik Poorter
	Forschungszentrum Jülich, IBG-2
	Wilhelm-Johnen-Straße
	52428 JÜLICH
	GERMANY
	email: h.poorter@fz-juelich.de

To Sylvia, Marion and Marcel for allowing me to dream.

ABSTRACT

Knowledge of differences between genotypes within local populations is relevant, since these differences are important for the capacity of these populations to cope with environmental stress and climate change. General consensus is that the more differences there are between genotypes within a population, the better the chance a genotype exists that has the capacity to cope. Yet for trees, where differences between genotypes have added importance due to their sessile nature and longevity, the differences in traits related to growth and survival remain unexplored. Therefore, this thesis aims to contribute to the understanding of the magnitude and importance of differences between genotypes within local tree populations for the dominant, ecologically and economically most important broad-leaved species in Northern Europe, silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth). To establish whether the traits found in silver birch are also important in other broadleaved species native to the boreal zone, the responses of aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) genotypes to water stress were also determined.

All silver birch genotypes included in this thesis were micropropagated from trees selected from a one hectare mixed silver and downy birch (*B. pubescens* Ehrh.) forest stand that regenerated naturally after logging in 1979. Thus, the material used represents a natural population. The aspen genotypes were selected from four populations on the same latitude.

To find traits underlying differences in growth between the genotypes a field experiment in Punkaharju, Finland, established in 1999 for long-term monitoring of within-stand genotypic differences in growth phenomena, was used. Two greenhouse experiments were established to study if and how traits with a high relative importance under field conditions in the current climate are involved in coping with environmental stresses projected to occur in a future climate, focussing on water availability and temperature.

In the field experiment, in addition to measurements of biomass and growth, 18 traits related to physiology (e.g. gas exchange, leaf pigments), leaf morphology (e.g. leaf size, leaf thickness) and phenology (e.g. bud burst, carbon sink-source transition) were examined during multiple growing seasons. In the greenhouse experiments the same suit of traits was measured, with the exception of phenology, in plants subjected to combinations of water stress (low, optimum and excess water) and increased temperature (ambient temperature and ambient +1 °C).

There were differences between genotypes in almost all measured traits, but the differences varied seemingly at random in relation to biomass. Differences in bud burst were generally small, but were greatly enhanced under conditions of variable temperature sum accumulation in spring (i.e. cold spells in spring). The same genotypes consistently showed early or late bud burst. Differences in bud burst were not carried over to the estimated period of carbon gain. Due to faster leaf expansion in genotypes with late bud burst and the lack of differences between genotypes in autumn senescence the estimated period of carbon gain was similar between genotypes. As a result the measured phenological traits could not be used to explain differences in growth between the genotypes. However, differences between genotypes in the timing of phenological events as well as the presence of genotypes

with different climatic optima within a local population indicate possibilities for acclimation to a changing climate of such populations.

Both greenhouse experiments showed that the responses of genotypes to adverse conditions were mostly similar. High net photosynthesis and water potential in the leaves in combination with a higher investment in roots compared to leaves were important traits for superior growth (in terms of biomass and height) after the two year experiment, irrespective of treatment. However, exceptions were traits related to relative investment in leaves, specific leaf area and root length indicating that changes in allocation patterns as a result of changing environmental conditions may depend on genotype, even within a local population. The relative investment in leaves, both in terms of mass and area, was acclimated to the adverse environmental conditions during the first year of treatment only, while leaf morphological and physiological traits showed acclimation during both growing seasons. This indicates that acclimation of biomass allocation is an important mechanism in coping with changing environmental conditions, at least in younger trees.

Universal Decimal Classification: 630.16, 630.18

Library of Congress Subject Headings:

Betula pendula, Genotype-environment interaction, Acclimatization, Plants -Variation, Trees - Growth, Plant biomass, Plant phenology, Plant physiology

Acknowledgements

While writing this final chapter, feelings of relief and responsibility alternate. Relief, because this chapter implies this thesis is almost finished. Responsibility, because of all the chapters in this thesis, this particular chapter will undoubtedly be read most. Allow me to recommend the other chapters; they were interesting enough to me for the past 4 years!

Before I quit my day-job to start work on this thesis a friend (Arend de Wilde) said "*A thesis is 1% inspiration and 99% sweat*". He was right. Field or laboratory work, no matter how exciting, becomes a string of repetitive, factory-like motions. Publishing becomes a desperate struggle over non-essential matters, aimed at pleasing the conveniently anonymous reviewer. Nonetheless, the momentary sense of achievement after the challenge of turning the data into something comprehensible and the feeling to have learned and contributed something, make it all well worthwhile! It was my dream to successfully complete a PhD thesis and I would do it all again, given the chance.

Yet, although this was *my* dream, a thesis has collateral effects on the lives of many people whose dream it never was, like loved ones and friends. They were involuntarily exposed to the random, often odd demands a thesis seems to make from time to time. Sylvia and I set out on this journey together and a mere "*thank you*" doesn't cut it for her endless support, her patience and understanding, her driving me to the finish! It wasn't always easy, but if anything, the experience has brought us closer together. I am also indebted to my parents for their unconditional support, for allowing me to dream and for raising me to always shoot for the stars. My brother is probably the best person in the world to put "*counting leaves*" in perspective from time to time, a rather useful trait!

I owe this thesis to the support, trust and hard work of my supervisors Elina Vapaavuori, Matti Rousi and Elina Oksanen. Without Matti's friendship and Elina Oksanen's trust, I would never have tried to undertake this journey and without Elina Vapaavuori offering me a place to do so, it wouldn't have been possible. Without their suggestions and tireless corrections, this thesis wouldn't be what it is today. Ronald Buskens and Hans van Poppel encouraged and enabled me to start this thesis while still working as a consultant. Mikko Anttonen thanks for the many discussions and your "*down to earth*" approach to this whole project! Further thanks go to all co-authors and collaborators for investing their time and expertise. Special thanks go to Jaakko Heinonen, for putting statistics in perspective and making them understandable and interesting. Thanks for your patience. With the comments and suggestions provided by Professor Koike and Dr. Mikola, who reviewed this thesis, I was able to further improve my thesis.

My life in Finland -and therefor this thesis- wouldn't have been possible without Egbert Beuker's friendship. Thanks for your friendship, introducing me to moosehunting and for spending countless hours together trying to find that one rare bird! Life would have been a lot less interesting without the stimulating discussions on virtually any topic with Seppo Ruotsalainen. The friendship offered by Leena Ahonen, Wolfgang Berger, Heli Hakala, Anni Harju, Katriina Huttunen, Hanna Pitkänen, Jussi Pitkänen, Petteri Pulkkinen, Pasi Pulkkinen, Marko Sairanen, Hanni Sikanen and the entire Vuoriniemi hunting group gave me a sense of belonging within the community and Finland.

Without the skilful help of the technical staff in both the Punkaharju and Suonenjoki Research Stations and all trainees there would not have been enough data for this thesis. Thank you all! Special thanks go to Hanna Ruhanen, Marja-Leena Jalkanen, Hanni Sikanen and Matti Muukkonen for the many enjoyable discussions on any topic during the long, hot (or cold and wet) days in the field! Without you, it would have been only half the fun! Tarja Salminen has been invaluable in last minute planning issues in Punkaharju. A special word of thanks to the secretaries in Punkaharju and Suonenjoki Leena Ahonen, Mirja Silvennoinen, Liisa Kylmälä and Leena Vallinkoski. Without their tireless support, I would have been hopelessly lost in the maze of rules, regulations, paper-work and procedures that The Finnish Forest Research Institute is!

A thesis is obviously expensive. The thesis lying in front of you was made possible through support by The Academy of Finland, The Finnish Forest Research Institute, University of Eastern Finland, Niemi Säätiö, The Finnish Cultural Foundation, The Finnish Society of Forest Science and Royal Haskoning B.V. Their financial or temporal contributions have been invaluable to the completion of this thesis!

I am grateful.

B.J.H.M. Possen

"There is no substitute for careful and intensive field work if one wants to find out what is happening in natural populations" (Endler 1986)¹

¹ Endler JA (1986) Natural selection in the wild. Princeton University Press, Princeton.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

[CO ₂]	Carbon dioxide concentration
Car	Carotenoid content
Chl a	Chlorophyll a content
Chl b	Chlorophyll b content
Chl a / b	Ratio between Chl a and Chl b
DW	Dry weight
FW	Fresh weight
FWDW	Fresh-to-dry-weight ratio of the leaves
gs	stomatal conductance
LA	Leaf area
LAR	Leaf area ratio (total leaf area / total plant biomass)
LMF	Leaf mass fraction (total leaf mass / total plant biomass)
LT	Thickness of the leaves
Pn	Light-saturated instantaneous net photosynthesis
P_{n_amb}/P_{n_sat} (or PC)	Carboxylation limitations for photosynthesis
RMF	Root mass fraction (total root mass / total plant biomass)
SLA	Specific leaf area
SMF	Stem mass fraction (stem mass / total plant biomass)
SRR	Shoot-to-root ratio ((leaf + stem dry mass)/root dry mass)
VWC	Volumetric water content of the soil
WP	Xylem water potential of the leaves
WUE	Water use efficiency (Pn/gs)

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on data presented in the following articles:

- I. Possen BJHM, Oksanen E, Rousi M, Ruhanen H, Ahonen V, Tervahauta A, Heinonen J, Heiskanen J, Kärenlampi S, Vapaavuori E (2011) Adaptability of birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) and aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) genotypes to different soil moisture conditions. Forest Ecology and Management 262:1387-1399.
- **II.** Possen BJHM, Anttonen MJ, Oksanen E, Rousi M, Heinonen J, Kostiainen K, Kontunen-Soppela S, Heiskanen J, Vapaavuori EM (2014) Variation in 13 leaf morphological and physiological traits within a silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) stand and their relation to growth. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 44:1-9.
- III. Possen BJHM, Rousi M, Silfver T, Anttonen MJ, Ruotsalainen S, Oksanen E, Vapaavuori E. Within-stand variation in silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) phenology. Submitted to Trees-Structure and Function.
- IV. Possen BJHM, Anttonen M, Heinonen J, Rousi M, Kontunen-Soppela S, Oksanen E, Vapaavuori E. How do 10 silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) genotypes cloned from a single population respond to changing temperature and water regime? Manuscript.

Manuscripts are referred to by their Roman numerals in the remainder of the summary.

Author's Contribution

For article I Boy Possen planned the experiment with his supervisors and had the primary responsibility for implementation, data collecting, data processing and writing of the article. The gene-expression work (I) was planned by Elina Oksanen and Sirpa Kärenlampi and the connected laboratory work was carried out by Viivi Ahonen and Arja Tervahauta. For articles II, III and IV the planning was done jointly by Boy Possen, Mikko Anttonen and the supervisors. Implementation and data collection for these experiments was shared with Mikko Anttonen and Boy Possen had the primary responsibility for data processing and writing the articles.

Contents

1 Introduction17
1.1 Trees and climate change
1.2 Acclimation to stressful conditions
1.3 The importance of variation
1.4 Silver birch and aspen as a study species
1.5 Aim of the thesis and hypotheses
2 Material and Methods25
2.1 Plant material, experiments and treatments
2.2 Measurements
2.2.1 Phenology
2.2.2 Leaf morphological traits
2.2.3 Physiological and pigment traits
2.2.4 Biomass and biomass allocation
3 Results and Discussion
3.1 Summary of the main findings
3.2 Differences between genotypes and their importance in the field
3.2.1 Phenology
3.2.2 Physiological and morphological traits
3.3 Traits important for acclimation to adverse conditions
3.4 Differences between aspen and birch
4 Conclusions
References41
Original papers47

1 Introduction

1.1 TREES AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Global climate is changing. A rise in temperature, an increase in precipitation and a decrease in the extent of snow cover are being observed, especially in Northern latitudes (IPCC 2013). Furthermore, extreme weather events such as heat waves occur more frequently and their occurrence is expected to increase further (IPCC 2013). IPCC (2013) predictions consider average trends across biomes or continents, but similar results have been found for Finland specifically, with an increase in the occurrence of peak temperatures during the summer months, for example (Jylhä et al. 2009).

Climate warming affects many aspects of tree growth (Saxe et al. 2001, Way and Oren 2010, Peñuelas et al. 2013), but changes in plant phenology in Northern latitudes are especially well documented (Menzel et al. 2006). Not only are phenological traits easy to observe (Forrest and Miller-Rushing 2010), the correct timing of phenological events like bud burst in spring or growth cessation in autumn is critical for growth and survival of trees in the strongly seasonal environment found in Northern latitudes (Sarvas 1972, 1974). As a result of continuous warming, leaf flush in spring has advanced (Menzel 2000, Menzel et al. 2006) and the growing season has lengthened (Menzel 2000, Vitasse et al. 2009). The effect on autumn senescence on the other hand seems ambiguous (Menzel et al. 2006, Hänninen and Tanino 2011). These findings are confirmed by experimental warming studies including several tree species (e.g. Gunderson et al. 2012). The lengthening of the growing season observed on large geographical scales has led to the prediction of increased tree growth under climate change (Kramer et al. 2000, Briceño-Elizondo et al. 2006). Furthermore, studies on tree rings show evidence of increased growth as a result of increasing temperatures during the growing season (e.g. Jacoby et al. 2000, Kujansuu et al. 2007).

These studies cover large geographic areas, but have a clear emphasis on the temperate zone of Europe. Although advancement of bud burst, lengthening of the growing season and an ambiguous signal for autumn senescence have been observed for boreal conditions (Pudas et al. 2008, Linkosalo et al. 2009), ambiguous signals for spring phenology have been reported as well (Rousi and Heinonen 2007). Pudas et al. (2008) show that trends differ between the northern, central and southern boreal zone. They report that the timing of bud burst advanced least in the southern boreal zone (0.7 days year⁻¹ compared to 1.4 days year⁻¹ in the central and northern boreal zone), where Rousi and Heinonen (2007) conducted their experiment, working with a single stand. Since the study periods in Pudas et al. (2008) and Rousi and Heinonen (2007) are near identical (1997-2006 and 1997-2005, respectively), this suggests that trends found from studies covering large geographical areas may be confounded by differences in latitude and longitude between the places where observations were made. On the other hand, the variation in timing of bud burst across years may override the overall trend on small spatial scales, indicating that time-series longer than a few decades are needed to reliably estimate a trend in phenological observations (Rousi and Heinonen 2007).

However, temperature is not the only driver of plant growth and the final effects of climate change on tree growth depend on the interaction of many environmental variables, such as nutrient and water availability (Leuzinger et al. 2012). As an example, the temperature dependency of tree-ring width significantly weakened during the mid-20th century (e.g. Jacoby et al. 2000), which was probably due to limitations posed by other environmental variables, for example, water availability (D'Arrigo et al. 2008) or changes in winter precipitation (Vaganov et al. 1999).

Indeed, from the mid-20th century onwards widespread global drying was observed, increasing the occurrence of drought (Dai 2011). Drought in turn, reduces growth and ecosystem productivity (Bréda et al. 2006). Similarly, increased snow depth, resulting in delayed snow melt may reduce tree growth (Vaganov et al. 1999, Kujansuu et al. 2007). Moreover, the effect of a changing climate on tree growth depends on the environmental factors limiting growth in today's climate. For example, as a result of warming, growth is expected to decline in areas currently limited by water, whereas an increase in growth is expected in areas, like the boreal zone, where water is currently not limiting (Peñuelas et al. 2013). Modelling studies indeed show that tree growth in the boreal zone increases in response to temperature, irrespective of changes in precipitation (Briceño-Elizondo et al. 2006).

1.2 ACCLIMATION TO STRESSFUL CONDITIONS

Vulnerability to climate change is thought to depend on an organism's sensitivity, exposure, resilience and ability to acclimate to environmental change (Williams et al. 2008) and the capacity of a population to physiologically and morphologically adapt to these changes is key to its success under the new conditions (Bernardo et al. 2007). Molecular changes as a consequence of changes in gene-expression underlie the physiological and morphological plasticity needed to acclimate and ultimately adapt (Grishkevich and Yanai 2013, Peñuelas et al. 2013 and references therein). However, physiological and morphological acclimation is the result of changes in a complex of traits and underlying gene regulation is poorly understood (Howe et al. 2003), although attributes of genes exhibiting genotype x environment interactions (i.e. genes showing plasticity in their expression in response to the environment) are starting to be identified (Grishkevich and Yanai 2013).

It is clear that new, to some extent beneficial growing conditions as a consequence of a changing climate may also increase the occurrence of environmental conditions causing stress to plants. The loss of correlation between tree growth and temperature mid-20th century (Jacoby et al. 2000) indicates, for example, that temperature has surpassed a threshold above which limitations to growth occur, either directly as a result of increased temperature (Way and Oren 2010) or indirectly through correlation with other environmental variables like drought (Dai 2011). Currently, sustained drought and water logging are common stresses in forests (Niinemets 2010) and water availability, interacting with temperature, may create large-scale drought events limiting forest productivity and tree survival (Bréda et al. 2006). Moreover, in Northern Europe precipitation and temperature are changing and the occurrence of their extremes is predicted to increase (Jylhä et al. 2009, IPCC 2013). Therefore, temperature and water availability are relevant environmental variables when considering growth of silver birch in the boreal zone, not only to better understand tree growth under a changing climate, but also under current climatic conditions.

Responses of trees to differences in water availability and temperature are widely studied. All aspects of plant growth are acclimated to the environmental conditions at hand, optimizing the balance between, for example, water lost in maintaining photosynthesis and its availability in the soil (reviewed by Yordanov et al. 2000, Saxe et al. 2001, Kozlowski and Pallardy 2002, Chaves et al. 2003, Bréda et al. 2006, Way and Oren 2010, Poorter et al. 2012, Ashraf and Harris, 2013).

Under water stress or conditions of elevated temperature trees tend to minimize the loss of water, while maximizing its uptake. On a physiological level, water use efficiency (WUE; defined in this thesis as the ratio between net photosynthesis (Pn) and stomatal conductance (g_s)) is optimized. This is accomplished, among others, by reducing g_s through the closure of the stomata. This reduces transpiration of water from the leaves, allowing the xylem water potential in the leaves (WP) to remain high enough to prevent damage to the photosynthetic machinery. At the same time, however, reduction of gs limits photosynthesis, reducing carbon gain. On a morphological level leaf area (LA) tends to be reduced, while the thickness (LT) and dry weight (DW) of the leaves tends to increase. This lowers the specific leaf area (SLA) and fresh-to-dry-weight ratio (FWDW) of the leaves. Such morphological and physiological responses are accompanied (but at the same time influenced) by changes in the investment in leaves, stem and roots relative to total biomass production. Reducing both leaf mass and leaf area relative to the total amount of plant biomass (leaf mass fraction (LMF) and leaf area ratio (LAR), respectively), while increasing the relative investment in roots (root mass fraction (RMF)), particularly fine roots (Koike et al. 2003) are efficient mechanisms to cope with low water availability. As a result, biomass allocated to the stem (SMF) as well the ratio between above and below ground parts (SRR) is reduced. Under conditions of excess soil moisture, availability of oxygen prevents the roots from functioning properly (Newsome et al. 1982, Kozlowski 1997), again reducing gs and Pn, limiting growth. As a consequence of limited root growth under such conditions RMF decreases, increasing SRR (Kozlowski 1997, Poorter et al. 2012).

Effects of temperature have been shown to differ between functional groups, i.e. between evergreen and deciduous trees, such that deciduous species tend to show larger responses to warming than do evergreen species (Way and Oren 2010). For example, in evergreen species, leaf mass and leaf area were less responsive to warming compared to deciduous species, but responses to temperature of traits related to photosynthesis were not different between both functional groups (Way and Oren 2010). These differences may be partly explained by wood structure (Hacke et al. 2001, Chave et al. 2009), indicating an interaction with water and nutrient transport (Hacke et al. 2001). In general, for deciduous species, elevated temperature brings about increased height growth, net photosynthesis, leaf mass, leaf area, and fine root length, while stomatal conductance and the shoot-to-root ratio decrease (Saxe et al. 2001, Way and Oren 2010).

Leaf pigments are also influenced by both temperature and water availability (Yordanov et al. 2000, Ashraf and Harris 2013 and references therein). Chlorophyll a (Chl a) and chlorophyll b (Chl b) content, both important pigments involved in light harvesting, have been shown to decrease in response to water availability and high temperature, but depending on plant species and genotype, an increase in response to drought has also been shown (Ashraf and Harris 2013). The concentration of carotenoids (Car), necessary for photoprotection, is less sensitive (Yordanov et al. 2000). In general, Chl a content decreases more rapidly compared to Chl b, decreasing the Chl a to Chl b ratio (Chl a/b). Although the photosynthetic machinery is comparatively resistant to changes in soil water availability (Cornic and Fresneau 2002), enzymes important for efficient photosynthesis, like ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (Rubisco) are also sensitive to both water availability and increased temperature, such that its functioning is usually decreased (Yordanov et al. 2000, Ashraf and Harris 2013). In this thesis the functioning of the mechanisms driving photosynthesis is approximated using the ratio between P_n under ambient and saturating CO₂ concentration [CO₂] (P_{n_amb}/ P_{n_sat}). This ratio gives an indication of how much apparent photosynthesis was limited by [CO₂] under ambient conditions and may also reflect the influence of water availability on the photosynthetic machinery (Cornic and Fresneau 2002).

Water availability and temperature frequently interact in nature. When multiple stresses are superimposed, the optimal response changes, but the change is further affected by past stress history and ontogeny. Although responses to individual stresses are relatively well understood, responses to interacting stresses are not, especially so when ontogeny and whole-tree physiology are taken into account (Niinemets 2010). Therefore, data covering whole trees and different ontogenic stages are needed to advance our understanding of acclimation and adaptation of tree growth under stressful conditions.

1.3 THE IMPORTANCE OF VARIATION

Terrestrial ecosystems have been dominated by trees for more than 370 million years (Niklas 1997) and the plant communities making up forests today have existed for a few thousand years (Huntley and Webb 1989), developing sets of life-history traits that allow the species to coexist within those communities (Nakashizuka 2001). Thus, trees have a long history of adapting to changing environments and environmental stress of various magnitude, duration and origin and have shown to be capable of adapting (Jacobsen and Dieffenbacher-Krall 1995). Although the climate has been gradually warming since the last glacial period (Davis et al. 2003), current climate change goes beyond any changes experienced in the past, both in terms of magnitude and speed (Peñuelas et al. 2013), especially for the Northern latitudes (Benito-Garzón et al. 2014). Although trees combine life-history traits and levels of genetic diversity that may allow them to adapt relatively quickly to predicted environmental changes (Hamrick 2004, Petit and Hampe 2006), it is predicted that trees may not be able to keep up due to, for example, anthropogenic limitations to dispersal and gene-flow (Davis and Shaw 2001). This increases the risk of local extinction (Jump and Peñuelas 2005). Therefore, variation in traits relevant for growth and survival (like physiology and morphology and life-history traits such as phenology) among individuals in local populations is important for the long-term survival of these populations. The more unique individuals within a population, the higher the chance that an individual is present that has the ability to acclimate to the adverse or new conditions (Peñuelas et al. 2013).

The genotypic richness (i.e. the number of unique individuals) of local populations has been shown to determine its performance under adverse environmental conditions. Populations with a higher number of genotypes are able to cope better in terms of productivity (Drummond and Vellend 2012). Such studies have not been carried out for trees, but for trees a wealth of information on genetic variation among populations has been compiled over the last two centuries (Langlet 1971), mainly using provenance trials and common garden experiments. These trials typically include material covering large spatial scales. However, it has also been shown that for trees most of the genetic variation is found within populations (Rusanen et al. 2003, Järvinen 2004, Petit and Hampe 2006) and that studies including genetic material selected from large geographic areas may not accurately reflect the ability to adapt to adverse environmental conditions (Jump and Peñuelas 2005). Therefore, provenance trials are not particularly suited to study genetic variation within populations and despite the apparent importance this aspect remains mostly unstudied in trees. A notable exception is silver birch (Betula pendula Roth), where differences between genotypes within a local population have been shown for resistance to ozone and frost (Prozherina et al. 2003, Oksanen et al. 2005), insect herbivory (Silfver 2009), secondary chemistry (Laitinen 2003), drought tolerance (Possen et al. 2011) and phenology (Rousi and Heinonen 2007, Rousi et al. 2011). Without exception, these studies show differences between genotypes within a local population.

Despite the evidence for differences between genotypes within a local silver birch population, the magnitude of this variation for physiological, morphological and phenological traits and their connection to growth in both the current and a future climate has not been quantified. This is relevant, however, in the light of the persistence of local populations under adverse environmental conditions.

1.4 SILVER BIRCH AND ASPEN AS A STUDY SPECIES

The focus of this thesis is on silver birch, but the response of aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) to different levels of water availability was studied as well (I) to test if the same traits underlie superior growth in both species. Silver birch is the ecologically and economically most important broadleaved species in the boreal zone (Atkinson 1992, Hynynen et al. 2010). Currently, aspen mainly has ecological importance (Myking et al. 2011), but economic interest is increasing (Hynynen and Viherä-Aarnio 1999, MacKenzie 2010).

Both silver birch and aspen are typical, light demanding pioneer species with distribution ranges spanning the entire Eurasian continent (Atkinson 1992, Worrell 1995, Hynynen et al. 2010, MacKenzie 2010). Silver birch prefers lighter, more fertile soils and adequate soil moisture (Atkinson 1992). Aspen has only modest site requirements and may occur over a wider range of environmental conditions compared to silver birch (Niinemets and Valladares 2006), but grows best on well-drained, loamy soils rich in organic matter and nitrogen (MacKenzie 2010). However, both species are the climax species in sites unsuited for other species, particularly in frequently disturbed sites (Atkinson 1992, Worrel 1995). Furthermore, for both species northward range shifts are expected as a result of climate warming (Hemery et al. 2010, Bogaert et al. 2010).

There are key differences in reproductive strategies between silver birch and aspen, however. Silver birch is a monoecious, cross-pollinating, wind-pollinated species with efficient pollen dispersal (Hynynen et al. 2010). Reproduction through suckers is rare and only occurs after major disturbances (Atkinson 1992). Aspen, a dioecious, wind-pollinated species, almost exclusively regenerates through root suckers (Worrel 1995, Mackenzie 2010). Although seeds are produced, establishment from seeds is seldom accomplished (Worrel 1995).

These differences represent species-specific trade-offs in a life-history trait (Nakashizuka 2001). The near-exclusive dependence on regeneration through seeds that are efficiently spread by wind allows silver birch to quickly colonize new suitable sites (Atkinson 1992) and maintain high within-population genetic diversity (Rusanen et al. 2003, Järvinen 2004). However, a large proportion of the produced seeds may never germinate or establish successfully. Regeneration through root suckers allows aspen to successfully persist and regenerate in a certain site for long periods of time, but restricts the ability to colonize new, more distant sites. As a result, aspen typically occurs in small stands, containing only few genetically different individuals (MacKenzie 2010). Therefore, aspen may be more vulnerable to local extinction in the case of changing site conditions compared to silver birch, increasing the importance of the ability to acclimate to new environmental conditions.

1.5 AIM OF THE THESIS AND HYPOTHESES

The main aim of this doctoral thesis is to increase the understanding of the magnitude and importance of variation in traits relevant for growth and acclimation to changing temperature and water regimes among genotypes within a local population.

This thesis takes into account a suit of morphological (SLA, FWDW, LA, DW and LT) and physiological traits (Pn, gs, WUE, Pn_amb/Pn_sat and WP) as well as traits related to the relative investment in plant biomass (LAR, LMF, SMF, RMF and SRR) relevant for acclimation to environmental conditions projected to change under a future climate (i.e. water availability and temperature). These traits were evaluated under field conditions to assess the importance of variation among genotypes in these traits for growth in the current climate (Figure 1a-c; II, III). The importance of variation in these traits for acclimation to possible future climatic conditions was evaluated by means of two controlled greenhouse experiment (Figure 1e-f; I, IV). Variation among genotypes was assessed for a set of 4 (I), 15 (II, III) or 10 (IV) genotypes, randomly selected from the same, single, naturally regenerated forest stand. To increase the understanding of molecular mechanisms underlying acclimation to drought gene-expression in response to water availability was studied in aspen (Figure 1d; I), using several genes that have previously been shown to be drought-inducible. Through measuring leaf morphological, physiological, phenological and biomass traits the whole tree was considered (I-V).

It was expected that differences between genotypes within a local population in relevant phenological (III), physiological (I, II, IV) and morphological (I, II, IV) traits could be used to explain differences in growth. Furthermore, it was expected that differences between genotypes in these traits could explain differences in acclimation

to changing environmental conditions (I, IV), evaluated as differences in growth (IV). The questions addressed in the four articles included in this thesis and their accompanying hypotheses have been summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Aims and hypotheses for the original articles included in this thesis

Arti	cle
I	Aim:
	Assess the presence of differences in drought tolerance between genotypes within a local silver birch population and among aspen populations.
	Hypothesis:
	In response to changes in soil moisture content, there is large genotypic variation within birch and aspen populations which is expressed in growth as well as at the morphological and physiological level
II	Aim:
	 If present, how large are the differences between genotypes in leaf physiological and morphological traits within a local silver birch population? Do these differences relate to differences in biomass among the genotypes after more than 10 years of growth under field conditions?
	Hypothesis:
	Differences between genotypes in these traits are present and can be used to explain variation in biomass within a local population
III	Aim:
	 Is the timing of phenological events different between genotypes within a local population? If present, do these differences result in genotype-specific periods of carbon gain?
	Hypothesis:

Significant differences between genotypes in both spring and autumn phenological events are present within a silver birch stand and lead to genotype-specific periods of carbon gain.

IV Aim:

1. Do genotypes within a local population respond differently to adverse environmental conditions?

2. If present, do the responses to adverse environmental conditions change over time in a genotype-specifc manner?

3. Which traits underlie superior growth (in terms of biomass) under adverse environmental conditions?

Hypothesis:

Genotypes consistently respond differently to adverse environmental conditions and traits underlying superior growth under field conditions are also important in acclimation to adverse environmental conditions.

Figure 1: Photographs of the experiments studied in this thesis. a: Measuring leaf morphological and physiological traits up in the canopy in the field experiment (II), b: The field experiment from a distance (II, III), c: Observing spring phenology in the field experiment (III), d: One of the shelters with removable roof used in the drought experiment with silver birch and aspen (I), e: Overview (before campaign 1 in 2011) of one of the greenhouses used in the water availability and temperature experiment (IV), f: Measuring gas exchange in the water availability and temperature experiment (IV), so for of the greenhouses used in the water availability and temperature experiment (IV). Note the difference in height in figure 1e and 1g.



2 Material and Methods

A summary of the material and methods for all four articles included in this thesis is given in Table 2 and photographs of the experiments are shown in Figure 1.

2.1 PLANT MATERIAL, EXPERIMENTS AND TREATMENTS

All silver birch genotypes were micropropagated from randomly selected trees growing in the same, one hectare mixed silver and downy birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) forest stand in Punkaharju, Finland (61°48′N, 29°18′E). The stand regenerated naturally after logging operations in 1979. The four aspen genotypes (I) were randomly selected from distant populations in southern Finland within the same latitude (61-62° N, 25-30° E).

The field experiment (II and III) was established in 1999 and consists of six blocks, each containing two replicates for 22 genotypes (Figures 1a-c). Based on biomass measurements after a thinning harvest in 2008, 15 genotypes (Table 2) covering the range of biomass in the field experiment were selected for further studies. One replicate tree for each genotype was selected from four randomly selected blocks, resulting in a total of 60 trees and four replicates for each genotype (II and III). Measurements of leaf morphology and physiology (II) lasted two growing seasons (Figure 1a), for phenological observations (III) three (Figure 1c). The time-series for bud burst was complemented with data available from the long-term monitoring efforts in the same field experiment (III).

The two greenhouse experiments (I and IV) focussed on drought, waterlogging and increased temperature. The experiment for article I, focussing on drought and waterlogging, was conducted in Punkaharju, Finland (61°48′N, 29°18′E) and lasted 50 days (2007). Four silver birch and four aspen genotypes (Table 2) were grown in two adjacent shelters, equipped with a removable roof, allowing for controlled soil moisture conditions, while retaining near ambient environmental conditions (Figure 1d). A split-split plot design consisting of 10 blocks and a sub-plot for each of the three contrasting watering treatments resulted in a total of 120 plantlets and 10 replicates for each genotype x treatment combination for both species.

The experiment for article IV, focussing on drought, waterlogging and increased temperature, was conducted in Suonenjoki, Finland (62°38'N, 27°03'E) and lasted two growing seasons (2011 and 2012). Ten genotypes (Table 2) were grown in two adjacent plastic greenhouses with open sides, allowing for controlled soil moisture conditions for the plantlets under close to ambient air temperature (Figures 1e-g). A split-split plot design consisting of 3 blocks and a sub-plot for each temperature x watering combination was used. Each sub-plot contained two replicates for each genotype in each year. Therefore, each year a total of 360 plantlets representing 3 replicates for each genotype x treatment combination was used.

The three watering treatments aimed to simulate excess, normal and limiting water in all greenhouse experiments (I and IV), equivalent to a volumetric water content (VWC) of >60%, 50% and <20%, respectively. The target VWC was maintained through daily manual watering and the amount of water needed was determined by weighting the pots. All plantlets started with normal VWC followed

by the watering treatment that was applied for five to seven weeks (I, IV). Thereafter, the VWC in all pots was returned to normal for two weeks before a final measurement campaign was conducted to assess the recovery of the plantlets from the watering treatment (IV). In the experiment focussing on water availability (I), plantlets were harvested immediately after the watering treatment. The two temperature treatments (IV) aimed to maintain either ambient or ambient +1 °C at the top of the saplings. The ambient +1 °C treatment was applied using infrared heaters.

2.2 MEASUREMENTS

2.2.1 Phenology

In the field experiment phenological observations were conducted in the lower third of the canopy (III; Figure 1c). During 2010 to 2012 daily bud burst measurements were conducted for 2 branches, one facing north the other facing south, and 10 buds per branch (i.e. a total of 20 buds per tree). During 2011 and 2012, immediately after bud burst, leaf unfolding was monitored for a subset of 3 buds per branch (i.e. a total of 6 buds per tree) by measuring leaf length and width. In autumn (2011 and 2012), senescence was monitored by measuring the chlorophyll content of the leaves non-destructively, using a CCM-200 plus (Opti-Sciences Inc., Hudson, NH, USA). The chlorophyll content of all leaves emerging from the 20 buds selected in spring was measured. From these measurements, the start (50 % of final leaf size) and end (50 % chlorophyll loss) of carbon gain were estimated. The period of carbon gain. The time in days between bud burst and 50 % of final leaf size was used as a measure for leaf unfolding.

2.2.2 Leaf morphological traits

Leaf morphological traits were measured using fully expanded sun-exposed shortshoot leaves in the field experiment (II; Figure 1a) or the youngest fully expanded leaf on the main axis of the tree in the greenhouse experiments (I and IV). LA (using a Li-3000, Li-Cor Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) and leaf fresh weight (FW) were determined in the field after which the leaf material was dried to constant dry weight (DW) at 60 °C. LA and DW were used to calculate SLA, FW and DW to calculate FWDW. LT was measured using a digital micro-meter (Mitutoyo absolute ID-C1012BS, Mitutoyo, Japan).

2.2.3 Physiological and pigment traits

Like leaf morphological traits, physiological traits were measured using fully expanded sun-exposed short-shoot leaves in the field experiment (II) or the youngest fully expanded leaf on the main axis of the tree in the greenhouse experiments (I and IV; Figure 1f). Leaf level gas exchange (P_n and g_s) were measured under saturating light (1000 (II), 1100 (I) and 1250 (IV) µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) and both ambient (380 ppm) and saturating (950 (I) and 1000 (II, IV) ppm) [CO₂] using portable gas exchange equipment (LiCor 6400 and LiCor 6400XT, Li-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA). P_n and g_s were used to calculate WUE and P_n under ambient and saturating [CO2] was used to estimate carboxylation limitations (P_{n_amb}/P_{n_sat} , denoted as PC in article I). WP was

measured using the pressure bomb method (Scholander et al. 1965). In experiment I dark-respiration was measured under ambient [CO₂]. Leaf pigment concentrations (IV) were determined following the spectrophotometric method described by Wellburn (1994).

2.2.4 Biomass and biomass allocation

For the trees growing in the field experiment (II and III) total biomass (sum of roots, stem, branches and leaves) was estimated from annual height and diameter measurements using biomass equations developed for silver birch in Finland by Repola (2008). In the greenhouse experiments (I, IV) biomass was measured at the end of the growing season by means of destructive harvests of the plantlets, assessing fresh and dry weight of roots, stem, branches and leaves separately. Ratios between the different biomass fractions were used as a measure of biomass allocation and changes in tree architecture (IV).

Table 2. Overview of the experiments, materials and measurements reported in the four articles. Silver birch

Article	Ι		II	III	IV
Species	silver birch	aspen	silver birch	silver birch	silver birch
No. genotypes	4	4	15	15	10
Genotypes	12, 14	6, 22	2, 3, 4,	2, 3, 4,	2, 4, 8,
	15, 25	51, 52	8, 12, 14,	8, 12, 14,	12 , 14 , 18,
			16, 17, 18,	16, 17, 18,	19, 23, 25 ,
			19, 22, 23,	19, 22, 23,	26
			24, 25 , 26	24, 25 , 26	
Experiment	Shelter		Field	Field	Open greenhouse
Treatments	Watering		None	None	Watering and Temperature
Measurements	Biomass		Biomass	Bud burst	Biomass
and estimates	Leaf morpho	ology	Leaf morphology	Leaf unfolding	Biomass allocation
	Physiology		Physiology	Senescence	Leaf morphology
	Gene-expres	sion1	Leaf pigments	Period of C-gain	Physiology
	_			-	Leaf pigments

genotypes common to all articles are shown in bold.

¹Gene-expression was studied only in aspen genotype 6

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 SUMMARY OF THE MAIN FINDINGS

The aim of this thesis was to determine the magnitude of differences between genotypes for relevant physiological, morphological and phenological traits and the importance of these differences for growth and acclimation.

For almost all traits measured, there were significant differences between genotypes (I-IV). Notable exceptions were the estimated period of carbon gain and its determinants (III) and P_n (I and II). Differences in bud burst in spring were large whenever cold spells interrupted bud burst (III). Leaf morphological traits, specifically SLA and FWDW, had most explanatory power with regards to variation in biomass in the field experiment, while phenological and physiological traits played a minor role (II, III). Changes in biomass allocation, specifically an increase in root mass at the expense of leaf mass and leaf area, and physiological traits were important in acclimating to the treatments under greenhouse conditions (I, IV).

The conclusions from each of the four articles included in this thesis are summarized in Table 3.

Art	icle	
I	•	Acclimation to soil moisture conditions varied among genotypes.
	•	Aspen and silver birch utilized different strategies to cope with the soil moisture conditions.
	•	Gene-expression in aspen was changed in response to soil moisture conditions.
II	•	There was considerable variation among genotypes in leaf morphological and physiological
		traits and they could be used to explain the differences in growth between the genotypes
		observed after 10 years of growth under field conditions.
	•	Of the measured traits, leaf morphological traits, specifically SLA and FWDW, had most
		explanatory power with regard to the variation in biomass among genotypes; genotypes
		with the lowest SLA and FWDW produced most biomass under field conditions.
III	•	Differences between genotypes within a local population in the timing of phenological
		events were present, but did not result in genotype-specific periods of carbon gain.
		Therefore, the measured phenological traits could not be used to explain the differences in
		growth between the genotypes observed after 10 years of growth under field conditions.
	•	Variation in the timing of bud burst among genotypes was compensated for through faster
		leaf development in genotypes with 'late' bud burst, resulting in an equal estimated period
		of carbon gain among genotypes.
	•	Genotypes with 'late' bud burst were more sensitive to variable temperature sum
		accumulation during spring compared to genotypes with 'early' bud burst.
IV	•	Genotypes generally showed similar acclimation responses to the treatments. Exceptions
		were traits related to the relative investment in leaves.
	•	The investment in leaves was acclimated to the environmental conditions during the first
		year of treatment only, while leaf morphological and physiological traits showed acclimation
		during both growing seasons
	•	Those plantlets that were able to maintain high P_n by maintaining high WP through
		increased investment in roots at the expense of leaves produced showed superior growth (in
		terms of biomass and height), irrespective of treatment.

Table 3. Conclusions from the articles included in the thesis.

3.2 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN GENOTYPES AND THEIR IMPORTANCE IN THE FIELD

3.2.1 Phenology

The magnitude of the differences between genotypes in the timing of bud burst were found to vary from year-to-year, but the same genotypes consistently showed 'early' or 'late' bud burst (III). Because temperature is the main environmental variable driving bud burst in pioneer species (Basler and Körner 2012), like silver birch (Rousi and Heinonen 2007), this indicates that even within a local population genotypes with different responses to temperature conditions in spring are retained. Such differences may be a consequence of the (micro) climate during seedling establishment (Kelly et al. 2003) or may reflect differences in the temperature regime at the sites from which the pollen originated (Rousi et al. 2011). Both may allow for the occurrence of individuals with different climatic optima in the same population, despite strong natural selection (Savolainen et al. 2007). However, the differences between genotypes may also represent normal local genotypic differences, since the chance of successful pollination by pollen transported over long distances is small (Rousi et al. 2011). Furthermore, when established, even individuals not optimally adapted to local environmental conditions may remain in a population of trees for a long time (Kuparinen et al. 2010). For this population the presence of genotypes with different climatic optima in a local population represents a possibility to acclimate and ultimately adapt to projected climate change.

Phenology of silver birch has been studied intensively, but there still is contradicting evidence as to what baseline temperature is best used for the prediction of bud burst. For the seven-year time series of bud burst included in this thesis the predictive power of baseline temperatures 0 and 5 °C was determined following Rousi and Pusenius (2005) and Rousi and Heinonen (2007) and the emerging pattern is inconsistent (Table 4). The error in the prediction was different between years and genotypes and the year x genotype interaction was significant (data not shown). The error between the predicted and the actual date of bud burst was greatest in genotype 17, as a result of the early bud burst in the cold spring of 2003 (Table 4).

The result is consistent with literature. Rousi and Heinonen (2007) found that a baseline temperature of 5 °C accurately predicted the date of bud burst in spring. Rousi and Pusenius (2005) found that from a range of baseline temperatures (+5 - -2 °C), temperatures between +2 and -1 °C were most accurate in predicting bud burst in silver birch. Sarvas (1972) on the other hand showed that bud development is possible even at 0 °C and Gunderson et al. (2012) concluded that temperature sum alone could not sufficiently explain the variation in date of bud burst. Myking and Heide (1995) and Heide (2003) found that high autumn temperatures delayed bud burst the following spring. Furthermore, in modelling studies different starting dates for temperature sum accumulation are frequently found (e.g. Linkosalo et al. 2008 and 2009).

The former clearly shows that there is much to learn about the way trees sense the environment in order to correctly time the transition from dormancy to active growth. The main issue seems to be that the correlation between growth initiation measured as visible bud burst and the shift from dormancy to active growth is rather loose (Howe et al. 2000). Bud burst is the final, but first visible stage in the shift from

dormancy to active growth. Ultimately, the phenological cycle is controlled by meristem activity (Horvarth 2003, Russell et al. 2013) and mitotic activity is restarted well before any external signs of bud burst can be observed (Rinne et al. 2011, van der Schoot et al. 2014). Consequently, how the environment is sensed with regard to the timing of bud burst and what mechanisms regulate spring phenology is not well understood (Howe et al. 2003). Molecular mechanisms and hormone regulation of dormancy development are better understood (Russell et al. 2013, van der Schoot et al. 2014) and may provide clues to how dormancy is released. According to Russell et al. (2013), meristems remain sensitive to hormones promoting growth like gibberellic acid (GA) after they have entered dormancy. Short days inhibit the synthesis of GA and promote the synthesis of DELLA-proteins (growth inhibitors), maintaining dormancy. Lengthening of the days allows GA-synthesis to restart. GA then stimulates the breakdown of DELLA-proteins, allowing the resumption of meristem activity and growth (Russell et al. 2013).

This mechanism may also be at work in species that are thought to be irresponsive to photoperiod at the onset of bud burst, like silver birch. For example, in silver birch phytochromes, responsible for sensing light (Smith 2000), have been suggested to be involved in the regulation of the annual cycle (Linkosalo and Lechowicz 2006). As indicated previously, visible bud burst follows the re-initiation of meristem activity. Therefore, release of dormancy may depend on photoperiod, at least partly, after which temperature becomes the most important regulator of the further development of the buds. Development of vegetative tissues has been shown to be highly temperature dependent (Larcher 2003). Furthermore, it has been suggested that phytochrome regulation may be subject to high within-species variation (Smith 2000), allowing for the genetic variation in the regulation of spring phenology observed in article III.

The differences between genotypes in bud burst were compensated for through faster leaf development in genotypes with 'late' bud burst (III). Fast leaf development in genotypes with 'late' bud burst is possible, because development of vegetative tissues is strongly temperature dependent (Larcher 2003). As spring progresses, average daily temperature increases continuously. Therefore, genotypes with late bud burst are likely to benefit more from higher average temperatures during leaf development, increasing the speed of leaf development in these genotypes compared to genotypes with early bud burst.

Some caution is needed, since a longer time-series, including years with more variable temperature development in spring (like 2003), could shed more light on the importance of the relationship between temperature sum at bud burst, leaf unfolding and the period of carbon gain.

Table 4: Mean day of the year (DoY) and temperature sums at the start of bud burst (7-year average) and the yearly deviation in days between the observed and predicted start of bud burst per
contype. The baseline temperatures for temperature sum calculations were 5 $^\circ$ C (BL5) and 0 $^\circ$ C (BL0). For example: for the whole 7-year time series, genotype 2 started bud burst at a BL5 of
6.0 (Mean BL5). In 2002 the mean BL5 of 16.0 was reached 1 day earlier compared to the mean date of bud burst (Mean date). Mean Y: average (absolute values) over years. Mean GT: average
absolute values) over genotypes. Letters represent significant different at P<0.05 for Mean Y. Data are the mean of 4 replicates per genotype per year, 28 replicates for Mean GT and 60
eplicates for Mean Y.

ar	Genotyp	e e															
	2	ę	4	×	12	14	16	17	18	19	22	23	24	25	26	Mean Y	
an DoY	123	121	123	123	124	124	123	121	123	120	123	125	125	125	124	123.1	
an BL5	16.0	14.3	18.2	18.1	19.8	20.3	18.6	15.5	17.3	11.1	18.3	24.7	24.6	24.7	19.5	18.2	
12	-1	0	-2	ကို	-2	ဂု	7	-2	4	0	ကို	-2	-2	1	ဂု	2.0	а
33	2	ή	2	4	4	ŋ	Э	6-	4	ή	ю	4	4	4	IJ	5.0	q
)4	2	7	1	7	1	-	-	1	1	7	7	1	0	7	7	1.4	а
)5	-1	-	-	-2	ဂု	ကို	-1	-2	-1	7	-2	-4	ή	ကို	-1	2.1	а
10	ş	φ	6-	6-	9-	6-	∠-	Ľ-	φ	-10	ŝ	Ľ-	φ	φ	\$	7.9	U
11	2	1	1	7	2	7	1	2	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1.2	а
2	0	1	-	-1	0	1	-2	4	0	0	0	0	-2	7	ကု	1.7	а
an GT	2.3	3.3	3.1	3.3	2.5	3.5	2.3	4.1	2.4	3.1	З	З	3.2	2.7	ς	3.0	
an BL0	123.9	118.7	127.7	127.2	134.8	133.2	129.9	119.8	128.6	106.6	128.3	143.2	142.1	142.7	131.1	129.3	
12	-1	-1	-2	ကို	-2	ကို	-1	-2	ή	0	ή	-2	-2	-1	ή	2.1	Ъс
33	2	ή	1	Ю	Э	4	с	6-	С	ς	2	4	4	4	5	4.7	φ
)4	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0.5	а
)5	υ	9	ß	4	Ю	ŝ	ß	Ŋ	ß	×	4	Ю	4	4	5	4.4	φ
[0	1	0	0	0	7	-	2	1	7	1	1	-1	-1	-1	1	1.4	ab
1	-1	-1	-2	-1	-2	-2	-2	-1	-2	-1	-2	-9	9	ή	-2	2.4	c
2	1	1	0	0	1	2	-1	4	1	-2	1	1	-1	0	-2	1.7	bc
an GT	1.9	2.9	2.8	2.1	2.1	2.3	2.4	3.6	2.5	2.8	2	2.5	2.7	2.8	2.5	2.5	

For this local population no differences in the timing of the end of the period of carbon gain were found (III). Decline of photosynthetic capacity and chlorophyll content are known to vary little among years (Morecroft et al. 2003, Keskitalo et al. 2005). Because of the importance of a correct timing of winter hardening and dormancy in the boreal zone (Sarvas 1974, Koski and Sievänen 1985), there may simply be little room for variation in the end of the period of carbon gain (Morecroft et al. 2003, Keskitalo et al. 2005), especially within local populations. Together with the near equal start of the period of carbon gain, this resulted in equal estimated periods of carbon gain among genotypes. Furthermore, although autumn senescence is thought to be under strong photoperiodic control (e.g. Kramer 1936, Viherä-Aarnio et al. 2006), growth cessation is likely to be modified by temperature (Hänninen and Tanino 2011 and references therein). For example, in a recent study Rousi et al. (2012) reported that Finnish silver birches readily acclimated to growth conditions in Canada where the photoperiod was continuously longer than those required for the initiation of dormancy in Finland; they outgrew the local Canadian birch species.

Accounting for differences between genotypes in the timing of phenological events is a hurdle that needs to be overcome in order to be able to develop generalizable phenological models (Richardson et al. 2013). The results in this thesis suggest that differences in the timing of phenological events, mainly spring phenology, between genotypes on small spatial scales exist and that genotypes with different climatic optima may be retained on this spatial scale. Although the genotypes were well adapted to the local climatic conditions (the differences in the timing of phenological events tended to be small and across the 7-year time-series no frost events occurred after bud burst was started), the differences were much more pronounced under conditions of variable temperature sum development in spring. Therefore, when considering climate change, such differences may be important for the persistence of local populations (Peñuelas et al. 2013).

3.2.2 Physiological and morphological traits

Regulation of growth under field conditions is complex, involving simultaneous acclimation of all aspects of tree growth to a multitude of environmental variables acting in concert (Niinemets 2010) and therefore is still poorly understood. This thesis, based on a suit of interacting traits determining growth, shows that variation among genotypes in most measured traits had little relative importance in explaining differences in biomass between genotypes (II). This is in line with previous studies showing that different morphological and physiological configurations can potentially lead to a similar outcome in terms of growth under field conditions (Niinemets 2010, Bertolli et al. 2013). Among the traits studied in this thesis, SLA and FWDW had most explanatory power with regard to the variation in biomass among genotypes under field conditions. Furthermore, these traits had a consistent negative relationship with mean genotype biomass (II). Thus, genotypes with high biomass tended to have lower mean values for SLA and FWDW.

The observed negative trend is not common in literature; in most cases SLA and FWDW tend to show a positive correlation with growth (Poorter and Remkes 1990; Cornelissen et al. 1996; Poorter and de Jong 1999; Poorter et al. 2012), although the *Betulaceae* family may be an exception (Cornelissen et al. 1996). However, on small spatial scales the correlation between SLA and growth tends to weaken due to larger

within-species variation (Poorter and de Jong 1999), indicating that trade-offs with other functions of SLA become more important.

SLA and FWDW govern growth as part of a complex, poorly understood trait syndrome, including both morphological and physiological traits (Garnier and Laurent 1994, Castro-Díez et al. 2000, Wright et al. 2004, Poorter et al. 2012, Tholen et al. 2012). Traits belonging to this syndrome, among which SLA and FWDW, are also involved in other essential functions, like defence against herbivores (Coley 1988, Pérez-Harguindeguy et al. 2003, Wright et al. 2004). Leaves with a lower SLA and FWDW are more durable, with higher resistance against herbivores and physical damage and a longer leaf life-span (Coley 1988, Pérez-Harguindeguy et al. 2003, Wright et al. 2004).

One of the aspects of the ecological importance of silver birch is its specific association with a number of herbivorous insects (Atkinson 1992). Immature leaves are most nutritious to herbivores (Kursar and Coley 1991) and young leaves experience higher levels of herbivory (Coley 1980). Short-shoot leaves contribute most to tree growth in various species in the *Betula* genus (Kozlowski and Clausen 1966) and for some of these species (*B. platyphylla* Suk. and *B. ermanii* Cham.) greater investments in the defence of short-shoot leaves have indeed been reported (Matsuki et al. 2004). Thus, genotypes investing in more durable short-shoot leaves (i.e. lower SLA and FWDW), possibly resulting in less damage or lower maintenance costs during the growing season, may have an advantage in terms of long-term growth. It is likely therefore that a trade-off exists between the various functions of these traits (Herms and Mattson 1992).

Measurements in the field experiment concern short-shoot leaves at the top of the canopy: sampling short-shoot leaves, developed under similar environmental conditions in spring, ensured comparability of the measurements both within and across growing seasons. This protocol eliminated or reduced variation due to differences in leaf age and light conditions between genotypes within campaigns while retaining changes across the growing season, but does not consider differences between leaves in different canopy positions. At the top of the canopy higher irradiation and temperature and lower xylem water potentials of the leaves require more rigid (low SLA and low FWDW) leaves with lower osmotic potentials (reviewed by Niinemets and Valladares 2004). Therefore, more durable leaves may also reflect better acclimation to the microenvironment found in the upper canopy. However, in boreal spring conditions, short-shoot leaves develop under high light, but high temperature or drought conditions generally do not occur. Since the morphology (i.e. LA, SLA) of leaves is acclimated to the environmental conditions during which they develop (Niinemets 2007), it seems unlikely that more durable leaves in genotypes with higher biomass represent acclimation to the specific conditions experienced by the leaves measured in this thesis.

3.3 TRAITS IMPORTANT FOR ACCLIMATION TO ADVERSE CONDITIONS

Differences between genotypes within local populations are important with respect to acclimation to adverse environmental conditions or adaptation to a changing climate (Peñuelas et al. 2013). In a field experiment with older trees (II, III), it is not possible to accurately study the importance of a single environmental factor. To study the importance of differences between genotypes found under field conditions for acclimation to new environmental conditions this thesis includes two controlled greenhouse experiments focussing on two relevant environmental parameters, water availability (I, IV), temperature and their interaction (IV).

From the greenhouse experiments it became clear that the ability to maintain high P_n and WP through increased investment in root mass at the expense of leaf area and leaf mass resulted in superior growth in terms of biomass and height (IV), irrespective of treatment. In contrast, growth was not strongly related to physiological traits in the field experiment (II), confirming the complex regulation of growth in silver birch.

That different traits proved to be important in the field experiment compared to the greenhouse experiments may be partly due to ontogeny (Niinemets 2010). The trees in the field experiment were older and larger compared to the plantlets in both greenhouse experiments. Smaller trees, like the plantlets used in the greenhouse experiments, are much more dependent on the immediate carbon sequestered in the leaves, while more mature trees can utilize carbon reserves stored in their woody biomass (e.g. Niinemets 2010). Moreover, more mature, larger trees are less affected by mild or short-term drought due to their more extensive root system and its ability to reach deeper, more stable sources of water (Dawson 1996). As a result, acclimation of physiological traits related to the use of water (Pn, WP) and biomass allocation to leaves and roots are likely to be more important in younger trees, irrespective of treatments, indicating the importance of ontogeny in considering acclimation to a changing environment.

Allometric relationships were affected by water availability only during the first year of treatment (2011), while leaf morphological and physiological traits were affected in both years (2011-2012; IV). Furthermore, after the first growing season, differences between genotypes in biomass and height growth were modest, but increased after the second growing season (IV). Under moderate levels of stress, juvenile trees are known to be able to realize similar growth, irrespective of treatment (Padilla et al. 2009), but allocation patterns change (Poorter et al. 2012). Thus, the data (IV) suggest changes in allocation in response to the treatments during the first year primed the plantlets for the conditions to be encountered during the second year (Liu and Dickmann 1993). That the differences between treatments in terms of growth became more pronounced only after the second year (2012) indicates that in the long run reoccurring environmental stress, in concert with effects of secondary stressors, for example, herbivores (e.g. Pusenius et al. 2002, Prittinen et al. 2003, 2006), may determine the future structure of the population (Peñuelas et al. 2013).

However, where in the field experiment with older trees the genotypes clearly responded differently to the environment they encountered (II, III), this typically was not the case in the greenhouse experiments with younger plantlets (I, IV). This shows that extrapolating results from greenhouse experiments with young plants to older trees under field conditions remains a challenge (Wolkovich et al. 2012). Similarities can be found, however. In both the field and greenhouse experiments different responses by the genotypes (genotype x environment or treatment) were found for leaf-related traits (SLA (I) and LMF (IV)). Leaves are the main sites for photosynthesis in plants, providing them with the energy needed for growth and reproduction, while water is lost in the process (Larcher 2003, Lambers et al. 2006).

This illustrates the need and importance for properly balancing investments in leaves, their shape and size in response to adverse conditions.

For organisms with a complicated genetic structure, like trees, it is not known whether populations differ in their plasticity (Salmela 2014). The significant genotype x treatment interaction found for LMF (IV), indicates that within a small population the extent to which allocation patterns are changed in response to adverse environmental conditions may depend on genotype. This suggestion is further strengthened by the seemingly consistent occurrence of genotype x environment interactions in the same genotype; genotype 25 was the only genotype to show a genotype x treatment interaction in both greenhouse experiments (I, IV).

Genotype x treatment interactions are ultimately determined by gene-expression, but the mechanisms are still poorly understood (Nicotra et al. 2010, Grishkevich and Yanai 2013). Genes displaying genotype x environment interactions are thought to have unique regulatory mechanisms and to be affected by the sum of changes at all loci involved in the expression of a certain trait (Grishkevich and Yanai 2013). It has recently been shown for trees that differences in the environment (treatments) trigger different gene-expression patterns in genetically identical individuals (Jermstad et al. 2001, 2003, Pelgas et al. 2011), but the underlying mechanisms remain unclear (Nicotra et al. 2010, Grishkevich and Yanai 2013).

All patterns and correlations reported in article IV with respect to acclimation to adverse conditions are based on individual silver birch plantlets. None of the correlations were significant at the level of genotypes, making it difficult to draw conclusions on possible different strategies employed by individual genotypes in acclimating to adverse environmental conditions. Nevertheless, the results show that differences in plasticity to changing environmental conditions are possible within local populations. Such differences may be important in the acclimation and ultimately the adaptation of local populations to a changing environment. This clearly deserves further research.

3.4 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN ASPEN AND BIRCH

In this thesis the focus is on silver birch, but in article I, the acclimation responses of silver birch and aspen were compared. Although in article I results from aspen were confounded with infection by *Venturia* spp. (a common fungus affecting aspen, especially in years with high levels of precipitation in summer (Newcombe 1996, MacKenzie 2010)), there were differences in growth, leaf morphology and physiology between the two species. These differences were most pronounced in the dry treatment. Together the differences were indicative of different strategies for coping with adverse soil moisture conditions: aspen appeared to invest more in perennial parts, while silver birch seemed to maintain foliar processes more effectively.

These differences may be related to the life-history of both species. Aspen almost exclusively uses vegetative reproduction i.e. root suckers (Worrel 1995). This implies that newly established aspen plantlets can partly rely on resources obtained by an already established root system (Bärring 1988). Silver birch in contrast, almost exclusively establishes through seed (Atkinson 1992), implying that seedlings have to rely on their own capacity to acclimate to adverse environments from the beginning. Thus, in the presence of an already established root system, investment in perennial parts might be advantageous in terms of competition for light, drawing nutrients

from this root system under conditions when resources become limiting for seedlings of species that cannot rely on an already established root system. This may be related to the ability of aspen to persist in the same site for long periods of time (MacKenzie 2010). In the absence of an already established root system, acclimation of foliar processes might be advantageous for maintenance of maximum height growth rate relative to the environmental conditions, ensuring high competitive ability in distant sites that may have become available for colonization only recently. This illustrates that traits underlying superior growth are likely to be species specific and are likely related to a species' life-history (Nakashizuka 2001).

4 Conclusions

Based on a large number of genotypes representing a single stand this thesis shows the complex regulation of growth in trees. To date, this regulation is poorly understood, especially when multiple environmental factors interact, like in field experiments. This may be a result of the tendency in science to compartmentalize, loosing track of the whole. In this thesis a broad spectrum of relevant traits was included, coming closer to a whole-tree approach.

Differences between genotypes in bud burst were usually small, but were greatly enhanced under conditions of variable temperature sum development in spring. Additionally, the presence of genotypes with consistent 'early' and 'late' bud burst shows that even within a local population, genotypes with different climatic optima are retained. This may be important for the acclimation of local populations to changing environmental conditions. Differences between genotypes in bud burst were compensated for through faster leaf expansion in genotypes with 'late' bud burst, resulting in an equal estimated period of carbon gain. As a result, together with a similar timing of the end of carbon gain among genotypes, the estimated period of carbon gain was similar among genotypes. Therefore, the measured phenological traits could not be used to explain the variation in growth observed among the genotypes. Nevertheless, differences between genotypes in the timing of phenological events and the presence of genotypes with different climatic optima provides possibilities for the acclimation (and ultimately the adaptation) of local population to a changing climate. In this light, the mechanisms involved in the transition from dormancy to active growth deserve further research, because the consequences for a correct timing of phenological events under a changing climate can only be accurately predicted once these mechanisms have been elucidated.

In both the field and greenhouse experiments differences between genotypes in morphological and physiological traits occurred as a rule. However, in all experiments differences between genotypes tended to vary over a rather narrow range for most of the measured traits. Under field conditions, leaf morphology, specifically SLA and FWDW, had most explanatory power with regard to the variation in estimated biomass observed in the field. Genotypes with low SLA and FWDW achieved superior growth in terms of biomass. This may be related to insect herbivory, since leaves with low SLA and FWDW are more resistant to herbivory, meaning that such leaves require less investments in terms of, for example, maintenance and repair. Thus, within a local silver birch population different morphological and physiological configurations may lead to a similar outcome in terms of biomass conditions, but SLA, FWDW and their variability stand out as important traits for growth.

Under greenhouse conditions, the relative investment in leaves, both in terms of mass and area, was acclimated to the adverse environmental conditions during the first year of treatment only, while leaf morphological and physiological traits showed adjustment during both growing seasons. Furthermore, the genotypes mostly responded in a similar way to the adverse conditions. Plants that were able to maintain high Pn by maintaining high WP through increased investment in root mass at the expense of investment in leaf area and leaf mass, produced most biomass and

grew tallest, irrespective of treatment. Exceptions were traits related to relative investment in leaves (IV), SLA and root length (I) indicating that changes in allocation patterns as a result of adverse environmental conditions may depend on genotype, even within a local population. The different relative importance of the measured traits under field and greenhouse conditions shows the importance of taking ontogeny into account when considering acclimation and adaptation to projected climate change. Although no genotype-specific acclimation responses were observed, there were indications that differences in plasticity in response to changing environmental conditions are possible within local populations. This deserves further research, because such differences may be important in the acclimation and ultimately the adaptation of local populations to a changing environment.

References

Ashraf M, Harris PJC (2013) Photosynthesis under stressful environments: An overview. Photosynthetica 51:163-190.

Atkinson MD (1992) Betula pendula Roth (B. verrucosa Ehrh.) and B. pubescens Ehrh. J Ecol 80:837-870.

Bärring U (1988) On the reproduction of aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) with emphasis on its suckering ability. Scand J For Res 3:229-240.

Basler D, Körner C (2012) Photoperiod sensitivity of bud burst in 14 temperature forest tree species. Agri For Meteorol 165:73-81.

Benito-Garzón M, Leadly PW, Fernández-Manjarrés JF (2014) Assessing global biome exposure to climate change through the Holocene-Anthropocene transition. Global Ecol Biogeogr 23:235-244.

Bernardo J, Ossola RJ, Spotila J, Crandall KA (2007) Interspecies physiological variation as a tool for cross-species assessments of global warming-induced endangerment: validation of an intrinsic determinant of macroecological and phylogeographic structure. Biol Lett 3:695-698.

Bertolli SC, Mazzafera P, Souza GM (2013) Why is it so difficult to identify a single indicator of water stress in plants? A proposal for a multivariate analysis to assess emergent properties. Plant Biol. online

Bogaert R van, Jonasson C, Dapper M de, Callaghan TV (2010) Range expansion of thermophilic aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) in the Swedish subarctic. Arctic, Antarctic and Alpine research 42:362-375.

Bréda N, Huc R, Granier A, Dreyer E (2006) Temperate forest trees and stands under severe drought: a review of ecophysiological responses, adaptation processes and long-term consequences. Ann For Sci 63:625-644.

Briceño-Elizondo E, Garcia-Gonzalo J, Peltola H, Matala J, Kellomäki S (2006) Sensitivity of growth of scots pine, norway spruce and silver birch to climate change and forest management in boreal conditions. For Ecol Manag 232:152-167.

Castro-Díez PO, Puyravaud JP, Cornelissen JHC (2000) Leaf structure and anatomy as related to leaf mass per area variation in seedlings of a wide range of woody plant species and types. Oecologia 124:476-486.

Chave J, Coomes D, Jansen S, Lewis SL, Swenson NG, Zanne AE (2009) Towards a worldwide wood economic spectrum. Ecol Lett 12:351-366.

Chaves MM, Maroco JP, Pereira JS (2003) Understanding plant responses to drought – from genes to the whole plant. Funct Plant Biol 30:239-264.

Coley PD (1980) Effects of leaf age and plant life history patterns on herbivory. Nature 284:545-546.

Coley PD (1988) Effects of plant growth rate and leaf lifetime on the amount and type of anti-herbivore defense. Oecologia 74:531-536.

Cornelissen JHC, Castro-Díez P, Hunt R (1996) Seedling growth, allocation and leaf attributes in a wide range of woody plant species and types. J Ecol 84:755-765.

Cornic G, Freseau C (2002) Photosynthetic reduction and carbon oxidation cycles are the main electron sinks for photosystem II activity during a mild drought. Ann Bot 89:887-894.

D'Arrigo R, Wilson R, Liepert B, Cherubini P (2008) On the 'Divergence Problem' in northern forests: A review of tree-ring evidence and possible causes. Global Planet Change 60:289-305.

Dai A (2011) Drought under global warming: a review. WIREs Clim Change 2:45-65.

Davis BAS, Brewer S, Stevenson AC, Guiot J and Data contributors (2003) The temperature of Europe during the Holocene reconstructed from pollen data. Quat Sci Rev 22:1701-1716.

Davis MB, Shaw RG (2001) Range shifts and adaptive responses to Quaternary climate change. Science 292:673-679.

Dawson TE (1996) Determining water use by trees and forests from isotopic, energy balance and transpiration analysis: the roles of tree size and hydraulic lift. Tree Physiol 16:263-272.

Drummond EBM, Vellend M (2012) Genotypic diversity effects on the performance of *Taraxacum officinale* populations increase with time and environmental favorability. PLoS ONE 7: e30314.

Forrest J, Miller-Rushing AJ (2010) Towards a synthetic understanding of the role of phenology in ecology and evolution. Phil Trans R Soc B 365:3101-3112.

Garnier E, Laurent G (1994) Leaf anatomy, specific mass and water content in congeneric annual and perennial grass species. New Phytol 128:725-736.

Grishkevich V, Yanai I (2013) The genomic determinants of genotype x environment interactions in gene expression. Trends in genetics 29:479-487.

Gunderson CA, Edwards NT, Walker AV, O'Hara KH, Campion CM, Hanson PJ (2012) Forest phenology and a warming climate – growing season extension in relation to climatic provenance. Glob Change Biol 18:2008-2025.

Hacke UG, Sperry JS, Pockman WT, Davis SD, McCulloh KA (2001) Trends in wood density and structure are linked to prevention of xylem implosion by negative pressure. Oecologia 126:457-461.

Hamrick JL (2004) Response of forest trees to global environmental change. For Ecol Manag 197:323-335.

Hänninen H, Tanino K (2011) Tree seasonality in a warming climate. Trends in Plant Science 16:412-416.

Heide OM (2003) High autumn temperature delays spring bud burst in boreal trees, counterbalancing the effect of climatic warming. Tree Physiol 23:931-936.

Hemery GE, Clark JR, Aldinger E, Claessens H, Malvolti ME, O'Connor E, Raftoyannis Y, Savill PS, Brus R (2010) Growing scattered broadleaved tree species in Europe in a changing climate: a review of risks and opportunities. Forestry 83:65-81.

Herms DA, Mattson WJ (1992) The dilemma of plants: To grow or to defend. Quat Rev Biol 67:283-335.

Horvarth DP, Anderson JV, Chao WS, Foley ME (2003) Knowing when to grow: signals regulating bud dormancy. Trends in plant science 8:534-540.

Howe GT, Saruul P, Chen THH (2000) Quantitative genetics of bud phenology, frost damage and winter survival in an F₂ family of hybrid poplars. Theor Appl Genet 101:632.642.

Howe GT, Aitken SN, Neale DB, Jermstad KD, Wheeler NC, Chen THH (2003) From genotype to phenotype: unravelling the complexities of cold adaptation in trees. Can J Bot 81:1247-1266.

Huntley B, Webb T III (1989) Migration: Species' response to climatic variations caused by changes in the Earth's orbit. J Biogeogr 16:5-19.

Hynynen J, Viherä-Aarnio A (1999) Haapa - monimuotoisuutta metsään ja metsätalouteen (Aspen - diversity of forests and forestry). Finnish Forest Research Institute Research Papers 725. 157 s.

Hynynen J, Niemistö P, Viherä-Aarnio A, Brunner A, Hein S, Velling P (2010) Silviculture of birch (*Betula pendula* Roth and *Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) in northern Europe. Forestry 83:103-119.

IPCC (2013) Climate change 2013: The physical science basis – Working group I contribution to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Edited by Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K, Tignor MMB, Allen SK, Boschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM. Cambridge University Press Cambridge (UK), New York (USA) p. 1552.

Jacobsen GL Jr., Dieffenbacher-Krall A (1995) White pine and climate change – Insights from the past. J Forest 93:39-42.

Jacoby GC, Lovelius NV, Shumilov O, Raspopov OM, Karbainov JM, Frank DC (2000) Long-term temperature trends and tree growth in the Taymir region of Northern Siberia. Quat Res 53:312-318.

Järvinen P (2004) Nucleotide variation of birch (*Betula* L.) species: population structure and phylogenetic relationships. PhD dissertation University of Joensuu 34.

Jermstad KD; Bassoni DL; Jech KS; Wheeler NC; Neale DB (2001) Mapping of quantitative trait loci controlling adaptive traits in coastal Douglas-fir. I. Timing of vegetative bud flush. Theor Apl Genet 102:1142-4451.

Jermstad KD, Bassoni DL, Jech KS, Ritchie GA, Wheeler NC, Neale DB (2003) Mapping of quantitative trait loci controlling adaptive traits in coastal douglas fir III. Quantitative trait loci-by-environment interactions. Genetics 165:1489-1506.

Jump AS, Peñuelas J (2005) Running to stand still: adaptation and the response of plants to rapid climate change. Ecol Lett 8:1010-1020.

Jylhä, K, Ruosteenoja K, Räisänen J, Venäläinen A, Tuomenvirta H, Ruokolainen L, Saku S, Seitola T (2009) The changing climate in Finland: estimates for adaptation studies. ACCLIM project report 2009. The Finnish Meteorological Institute.

Kelly CK, Chase MW, de Bruijn A, Fay MF, Woodward FI (2003) Temperature-based population segregation in birch. Ecol Lett 6:87-89.

Keskitalo J, Bergquist G, Gardeström P, Jansson S (2005) A cellular timetable of autumn senescence. Plant Physiol 139:1635-1648.

Koike T, Kitao M, Quoreshi AM, Matsuura Y (2003) Growth characteristics of root-shoot relations of three birch seedlings raised under different water regimes. Plant Soil 255:303-310.

Koski V, Sievänen R (1985) Timing of growth cessation in relation to the variation in the growing season. In Tigerstedt PMA, Puttonen P, Koski V (eds) Crop physiology of forest trees. Helsinki University Press, Helsinki pp 167-193.

Kozlowski TT, Clausen JJ (1966) Shoot growth characteristics of heterophyllous woody plants. Can J Bot 44:827-843.

Kozlowski TT (1997) Responses of woody plants to flooding and salinity. Tree Physiol. Monogr. No. 1:1-29.

Kozlowski TT, Pallardy SG (2002) Acclimation and responses of woody plants to environmental stresses. Botanical Review 68:270-334.

Kramer PJ (1936) Effect of variation in length of day on growth and dormancy of trees. Plant Physiol 11:127–137.

Kramer K, Leinonen I, Loustau D (2000) The importance of phenology for the evaluation of impact of climate change on growth of boreal, temperate and Mediterranean forests ecosystems: an overview. Int J Biometeorol 44:67-75.

Kujansuu J, Yasue K, Koike T, Abaimov AP, Kajimoto K, Takeda T, Tokumoto M, Matsuura Y (2007) Responses of rings widths and maximum densities of *Larix gmelinii* to climate on contrasting north- and south-facing slopes in central Siberia. Ecol Res 22:582-592.

Kuparinen A, Savolainen O, Schurr FM (2010) Increased mortality can promote evolutionary adaptation of forest trees to climate change. For Ecol Manag 259:1003-1008.

Kursar TA, Coley PD (1991) Nitrogen content and expansion rate of young leaves of rain forest species: implications for herbivory. Biotropica 23:141-150.

Laitinen ML (2003) Variation in secondary chemistry within a natural population of birch: effects of genotype, environment and ontogeny. PhD dissertation University of Joensuu, 20.

Lambers, H., Chapin, F.S., Pons, T.L. 2006. Plant physiological ecology. New York. Springer Verlag.

Langlet O (1971) Two hundred years of genecology. Taxon 20:653-721.

Larcher W (2003) Physiological Plant Ecology – Ecophysiology and stress physiology of functional groups. 4th edition. Springer.

Leuzinger S, Luo Y, Beier C, Dieleman W, Vicca S, Körner C (2012) Do global change experiments overestimate impacts on terrestrial ecosystems? Trends Ecol Evol 26:236-241.

Linkosalo T, Lechowicz M (2006) Twilight far-red treatment advances leaf bud burst of silver birch (*Betula pendula*). Tree Physiol 26:1249–1256.

Linkosalo T, Lappalainen HK, Hari P (2008) A comparison of phenological models of leaf bud burst and flowering of boreal trees using independent observations. Tree Physiol 28:1873-1882.

Linkosalo T, Häkkinen R, Terhivuo J, Tuomenvirta H, Hari P (2009) The time series of flowering and leaf bud burst of boreal trees (1846-2005) support the direct temperature observations of climatic warming. Agri Forest Meteorol 149:453-461.

Liu Z, Dickmann DI (1993) Responses of two hybrid Populus clones to flooding, drought and nitrogen availability. II. Gas exchange and water relations. Can J Bot 71:927-938.

MacKenzie NA (2010) Ecology, Conservation and Management of Aspen: A Literature Review. Scottish Native Woods, Aberfeldy.

Matsuki S, Sano Y, Koike T (2004) Chemical and physical defence in early and late leaves in three heterophyllous birch species native to Northern Japan. Ann Bot 93.141-147.

Menzel A (2000) Trends in phenological phases in Europe between 1951 and 1996. Int J Biometeorol 44:76-81.

Menzel A, Sparks TH, Estrella N, Koch E, Aasa A, Ahas R, Alm-Kűbler K, Bissolli P, Braslavská O, Briede A, Chmielewski FM, Crepinsek Z, Curnell Y, Dahl A, Defila C, Donnelly A, Filella Y, Jatczak K, Måge F, Mestre A, Nordli Ø, Peñuelas J, Pirinen P, Remišová V, Scheifinger H, Striz M, Susnik A, van Vliet AJH, Wielgolaski F-E, Zach S, Zust A (2006) European phenological response to climate change matches the warming pattern. Glob Change Biol 12:1969-1976.

Morecroft MD, Stokes VJ, Morison JIL (2003) Seasonal changes in the photosynthetic capacity of oak (*Quercus robur*) leaves: the impact of slow development on annual carbon uptake. Int J Biometeorol 47:221-226.

Myking T, Heide OM (1995) Dormancy release and chilling requirements of buds of latitudinal ecotypes of *Betula* pendula and *B. pubescens*. Tree Physiol 15:697-704.

Myking T, Bøhler F, Austrheim G, Solberg EJ (2011) Life history strategies of aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) and browsing effects: a literature review. Forestry 84:61-71.

Nakashizuka T (2001) Species coexistence in temperate, mixed deciduous forests. Trends Ecol Evol 16:205-210.

Newcombe G (1996) The specificity of fungal pathogens of *Populus*. In: Stettler RF, Bradshaw HDJ, Heilman PE, Hinckley TM (Eds.) Biology of *Populus* and its implications for management and conservation. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, pp. 223-246.

Newsome RD, Kozlowski TT, Tang ZC (1982) Response of Ulmus Americana seedlings to flooding. Can J Bot 60:1688-1695.

Nicotra AB, Atkin OK, Bonser SP, Davidson AM, Finnegan EJ, Mathesius U, Poot P, Purugganan MD, Richards CL, Valladares F, van Kleunen M (2010) Plant phenotypic plasticity in a changing climate. Trends in plant science 17:684-692.

Niinemets Ű, Valladares F (2004) Photosynthetic acclimation to simultaneous and interacting environmental stresses along natural light gradients: optimality and constraints. Plant Biol 6:254-268.

Niinemets Ú, Valladares F (2006) Tolerance to shade, drought and waterlogging of temperate northern hemisphere trees and shrubs. Ecol Monogr 76:521-547.

Niinemets Ű (2007) Photosynthesis and resource distribution through plant canopies. Plant Cell Env 30:1052-1071.

Niinemets U (2010) Responses of forest trees to single and multiple environmental stresses from seedlings to mature plants: Past stress history, stress interactions, tolerance and acclimation. For Ecol Manag 260:1623-1639.

Niklas KJ (1997) The evolutionary biology of plants. University of Chicago Press, Chicago 449p.

Oksanen E, Freiwald V, Prozherina N, Rousi M (2005) Photosynthesis of birch (*Betula pendula*) is sensitive to springtime frost and ozone. Can J For Res 35:703-712.

Padilla FM, Miranda, JD, Jorquera MJ, Pugnaire FI (2009) Variability in amount and frequency of water supply affects roots but not growth of arid shrubs. Plant ecol. 204: 261-270.

Pelgas B, Bousquet J, Meirmans P, Ritland K, Isabel N (2011) QTL mapping in white spruce: gene maps and genomic regions underlying adaptive traits across pedigrees, years and environments. BMC Genomics 12:145.

Peñuelas J, Sardans J, Estiarte M, Ogaya R, Carnicer J, Coll M, Barbeta A, Rivas-Ubach A, LLusià J, Garbulsky M, Filella I, Jump AS (2013) Evidence of current impact of climate change on life: a walk from genes to the biosphere. Glob Change Biol 19:2303-2338.

Pérez-Harguindeguy N, Diaz S, Vendramini F, Cornelissen JHC, Gurvich DE, Cabido M (2003) Leaf traits and herbivore selection in the field and in cafeteria experiments. Austral Ecology 28: 624-650.

Petit RJ, Hampe A (2006) Some evolutionary consequences of being a tree. Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst 37:187-214.

Poorter H, Remkes C (1990) Leaf-Area ratio and net assimilation rate of 24 wild-species differing in relative growthrate. Oecologia 83:553-559.

Poorter H, de Jong R (1999) A comparison of specific leaf area, chemical composition and leaf construction costs of field plants from 15 habitats differing in productivity. New Phytol 143:163-176.

Poorter H, Niklas KJ, Reich PB, Oleksyn J, Poot P, Mommer L (2012) Biomass allocation to leaves, stems and roots: meta-analysis of interspecific variation and environmental control. New Phytol 193: 30-50.

Possen BJHM, Oksanen E, Rousi M, Ruhanen H, Ahonen V, Tervahauta A, Heinonen J, Heiskanen J, Kärenlampi S, Vapaavuori E (2011) Adaptability of birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) and aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) genotypes to different soil moisture conditions. For Ecol Manag 262:1387-1399.

Prittinen K, Pusenius J, Koivunoro K, Rousi M, Roininen H (2003) Mortality in seedling populations of silver birch: genotypic variation and herbivore effects. Funct Ecol 17:658-663.

Prittinen K, Pusenius J, Tahvanainen J, Rousi M, Heinonen J, Roininen H (2006) Herbivory modifies the genetic structure of birch populations. Oikos 114:465-470.

Prozherina N, Freiwald V, Rousi M, Oksanen E (2003) Interactive effect of springtime frost and elevated ozone on early growth, foliar injuries and leaf structure of birch (*Betula pendula*). New Phytol 159:623-636.

Pudas E, Leppälä M, Tolvanen A, Poikolainen J, Venäläinen A, Kubin E (2008) Trends in phenology of *Betula pubescence* across the boreal zone in Finland. Int J Biometeorol 52:251-259.

Pusenius J, Prittinen K, Heimonen J, Kiovunoro K, Rousi M, Roininen H (2002) Choice of voles among genotypes of birch seedlings: its relationship with seedling quality and preference of insects. Oecologia 130:426-432.

Repola J (2008) Biomass equations for birch in Finland. Silva Fenn 42:605-624.

Richardson AD, Keenan TF, Migliavacca M, Ryu Y, Sonnentag O, Toomey M (2013) Climate change, phenology and phenological control of vegetation feedbacks to the climate system. Agr Forest Meteorol 169:156-173.

Rinne PLH, Welling A, Vahala J, Ripel L, Ruonala R, Kangasjärvi J, van der Schoot C (2011) Chilling of dormant buds hyperinduces *FLOWERING LOCUS T* and recruits GA-inducible 1,3-β-Glucanases to reopen signal conduits and release dormancy in *Populus*. The Plant Cell 23:130-146.

Rousi M, Pusenius J (2005) Variations in phenology and growth of European white birch (*Betula pendula*) clones. Tree Physiol 25:201-210.

Rousi M, Heinonen J (2007) Temperature sum accumulation effects on within-population variation and long-term trends in date of bud burst of European white birch (*Betula pendula*). Tree Physiol 27:1019-1025.

Rousi M, Heinonen J, Neuvonen S (2011) Intrapopulation variation in flowering phenology and fecundity of silver birch: implications for adaptability to changing climate. For Ecol Manag 262:2378-2385.

Rousi M, Possen B, Hagqvist R, Thomas B (2012) From the arctic circle to the Canadian prairies – a case study of silver birch acclimation capacity. Silva Fenn. 46:355-364.

Rusanen M, Vakkari P, Blom A (2003) Genetic structure of *Acer platanoides* and *Betula pendula* in northern Europe. Can J For Res 33:1110-1115.

Russell J, Ougham H, Thomas H, Waaland S (2013) The molecular life of plants. John Wiley & Sons Ltd. West Sussex, United Kingdom.

Salmela MJ (2014) Rethinking local adaptation: Mind the environment. For Ecol Manag 312:271-281.

Sarvas R (1972) Investigations on the annual cycle of development of forest trees – Active period. Comm Int For Fen 76:1-110.

Sarvas R (1974) Investigations on the annual cycle of development of forest trees – Autumn dormancy and winter dormancy. Comm Int For Fen 84:1-101.

Savolainen O, Pyhäjärvi T, Knürr T (2007) Gene flow and local adaptation. Annu Rev Ecol Evol S 38:595-619.

Saxe H, Cannell MGR, Johnsen Ø, Ryan MG, Vourlitis G (2001) Tree and forest functioning in response to global warming. New Phytol 149:369-399.

Scholander PF, Hammel HT, Bradstreet ED, Hemmingsen EA (1965) Sap pressure in vascular plants. Science 148: 339-346.

Silfver T (2009) Genetic variation in resistance of silver birch to biotic and abiotic stress. PhD Dissertations in Biology University of Joensuu No.62.

Smith H (2000) Phytochromes and light signal perception by plants - an emerging synthesis. Nature 407:585-591.

Tholen D, Boom C, Xin-Guang Z (2012) Opinion: prospects for improving photosynthesis by altering leaf anatomy. Plant Science 197:92-101.

Vaganov EA, Hughes MK, Kirdyanov AV, Schweingruber FH, Silkin PP (1999) Influence of snowfall and melt timing on tree growth in subarctic Eurasia. Nature 400: 149-151.

van der Schoot C, Paul LK, Rinne PLH (2014) The embryonic shoot: a lifeline through winter. J Exp Bot 65:1699-1712.

Viherä-Aarnio A, Häkkinen R, Junttila O (2006) Critical night length for bud set and its variation in two photoperiodic ecotypes of Betula pendula. Tree Physiol 26:1013-1018.

Vitasse Y, Delzon S, Dufrêne E, Pontailler J-Y, Louvet J-M, Kremer A, Michalet R (2009) Leaf phenology sensitivity to temperature in European trees: Do within-species populations exhibit similar responses? Agr Forest Meteorol 149:735-744.

Way D, Oren R (2010) Differential responses to changes in growth temperature between trees from different functional groups and biomes: a review and synthesis of data. Tree Physiol 30:669-688.

Wellburn AR (1994) The spectral determination of chlorophylls a and b, as well as total carotenoids, using various solvents with spectrophotometers of different resolution. J Plant Physiol 144:307-313.

Williams SE, Shoo LP, Isaac JL, Hoffmann AA, Langham G (2008) Towards an integrated framework for assessing the vulnerability of species to climate change. PLoS Biology 6:e325.

Wolkovich EM, Cook BI, Allen JM, Crimmins TM, Betancourt JL, Travers SE, Pau S, Regetz J, Davies TJ, Kraft NBJ, Ault TR, Mazer SJ, McCabe GJ, McGill BJ, Parmesan C, Salamin N, Schwartz MD, Cleland EE (2012) Warming experiments underpredict plant phenological responses to climate change. Nature 485:494-497.

Worrell R (1995) European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.) - A review with particular reference to Scotland. 1 Distribution, ecology and genetic variation. Forestry 68:93–105.

Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornelissen JHC, Diemer M, Flexas J, Garnier E, Groom PK, Gulias J, Hikosaka K, Lamont BB, Lee T, Lee W, Lusk C, Midgley JJ, Navas ML, Niinemets Ű, Oleksyn J, Osada N, Poorter H, Poot P, Prior LD, Pyankov, VI, Roumet C, Thomas SC, Tjoelker MG, Veneklaas EJ, Villar R (2004) The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature 428: 821–827.

Yordanov I, Velikova V, Tsonev T (2000) Plant responses to drought, acclimation, and stress tolerance. Photosynthetica 38:171-186.

B.J.H.M. Possen Searching for traits behind growth and biomass: A case study with silver birch

How well a local population of trees is able to acclimate to changing environmental conditions depends on the differences between individual plants (genotypes) within such populations. In this thesis these differences are quantified under field conditions as well as under changing water and temperature regimes for a suit of physiological, morphological and phenological traits and traits related to biomass allocation. Subsequently the differences are related to the growth of the genotypes, improving the understanding of tree growth not only in the current, but also under a future climate.



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences

> ISBN 978-952-61-1477-4 (NID.) ISBN 978-952-61-1478-1 (PDF) ISSNL 1798-5668 ISSN 1798-5668 ISSN 1798-5676 (PDF)